

WaterMill Master Association

Rules & Regulations

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTR	ODUCTION	3
0-1	DEFINITIONS & GENERAL RULES	3
1-1	LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE	5
1-2	MAINTENANCE OF HOME EXTERIOR	6
1-3	MAINTENANCE OF FENCING	6
1-4	MAINTENANCE OF WALKS, DRIVES, & SIDEWALK	6
1-5	MAINTENANCE OF RIGHTS OF WAY TO THE CURB	6
1-6	MAINTENANCE OF LAKE BANKS TO THE WATER'S EDGE	6
1-7	MAINTENANCE OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM	7
1-8	MAINTENANCE OF MAILBOXES	7
2-1	HAZARDOUS MATERIALS	7
2-2	PROHIBITION OF PROJECTILE WEAPONS	8
2-3	PROHIBITION OF HUNTING AND TRAPPING	8
2-4	PARKING OF MOTOR VEHICLES	8
2-5	OBSTRUCTION OF COMMON PROPERTY OR FACILITIES	9
2-6	LAKES AND RETENTION PONDS (WATER BODIES)	9
2-7	COMMERCIAL ACTIVITY	9
2-8	ASSOCIATION'S AUTHORIZATION TO MAINTAIN FACILITIES	9
2-9	STORAGE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY	9
2-10	REMOTE CONTROLLED VEHICLES AND AIRCRAFT	10
2-11	MODEL ROCKETS	10
2-12	GENERAL RULES FOR PETS	10
2-13	PROPER STORAGE OF TRASH	10
3-1	ENFORCEMENT OF ASSOCIATION DOCUMENTS	11

INTRODUCTION

Homeowners' Associations, their Boards of Directors, and the Association Documents that govern their management exist to establish a common scheme of development, encourage a sense of community, establish reasonable standards of care and maintenance of common and private property for the benefit of the community, and to protect the investment of the homeowners who join the community. An equitable, efficient, transparent, and timely process to enforce the Association Documents is necessary to accomplish the foregoing objectives. To facilitate enforcement and compliance, a Violations Committee of the Association has been established to confirm or reject fines and suspensions imposed by the Association. Periodically, as a good management practice, and in response to concerns of the community, it is necessary to review the processes established by the Association Documents and revise, amend, or amplify them as necessary, in accordance with Florida law, in response to the evolving needs of the community.

These Rules and Regulations replace all previously adopted or published Rules and Regulations of the Association, including Exhibit E to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for WaterMill and Notice of Assessments for WaterMill Master Association, Inc., recorded in Book 9927, Page 1860I, et seq., of the Official Records of Duval County, Florida, and all amendments thereto.

Forms, information, and notices are available and posted regularly to the WaterMill website at www.watermill.us.

0-1 DEFINITIONS & GENERAL RULES

Definitions

The following terms when used herein shall bear the definitions set forth below. Capitalized terms not defined herein shall bear the meanings set forth in the Declaration.

"Architectural Control Committee" and "ARC" means the Association Committee responsible for performing the architectural review and approval functions set forth in the Declaration.

"Architectural Control Guidelines" means the Architectural Control Guidelines adopted by the Association, as amended periodically.

"Association Documents" means the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and Architectural Control Guidelines, as amended periodically.

"Association Management" means the community association management company under contract with the Association to provide community association management services to the Association. Association Management shall also refer to the community association manager assigned to assist with management of the Association.

"Board of Directors" and "Board" mean the Association's Board of Directors.

"Community" means "Property" as defined by the Declaration and refers to all property encumbered by and subject to the Declaration.

"Guest" means a person invited into the Community by an Owner, tenant, or other Unit occupant on a temporary basis who has a principal residence that is not a Unit.

"Including" means, unless immediately preceded by the word "exclusively," including without limitation and shall be interpreted to be followed by a non-exclusive list of examples.

"Member" and "Owner" mean a member of the Association and a record owner a fee simple title to any Lot or Unit within the Community. When an obligation of a Member or Owner is referenced herein, such obligation shall extend to anyone acting on behalf of a Member, and Members shall be responsible for the acts and omissions of all such persons acting on their behalf.

"Invitees" means tenants, Unit occupants, family members, guests, contractors, service providers, and any other person located on or within any portion of the Community at the request, or with the permission, of a Member or any Invitees associated with a Member or his or her Lot or Unit.

"Unit" means a dwelling unit (i.e., a home) constructed on a Lot or any condominium dwelling unit in any condominium building that may be erected on any parcel of land within the Property. Unit is coterminous with "Home" when used herein.

General Rules

- All Members and Invitees shall comply with the Association Documents. Members shall ensure all their Invitees (which includes all Invitees of tenants, Unit occupants, guests, and others associated with their Lot or Unit) comply with the Association Documents and are jointly and severally liable for any damage caused by, and violations committed by, their Invitees.
- No immoral, improper, offensive, or unlawful use shall be made of a Lot or Unit and strict compliance with all valid laws, zoning ordinances, and regulations of all governmental bodies having jurisdiction is mandatory.
- Owners who lease their Unit shall provide copies of the Association Documents to their tenants and Unit occupants and shall ensure tenants and Unit occupants comply with them. Residential Lots within the Community are exclusively limited to single-family residential use.
- The Board of Directors and Association Management, as directed by the Board, are solely responsible for directing and supervising employees (if any), vendors, and other persons and entities with whom the Association may contract. Owners and Invitees shall not request that any Association employees, vendors, or other persons or entities with whom the Association may contract perform any personal services or otherwise attempt to direct them in any manner with respect to the performance of their duties or services.

Members with questions or concerns about these Rules and Regulations or other Association Documents may formally contact the Board of Directors by letter addressed to WaterMill Master Association, Inc., Board of Directors, at the address of Association Management. Members may also contact the Board of Directors informally using email address watermillhomeowners@gmail.com. Email communications are a convenience to all parties involved but responses from this method of communications in a timely manner are neither expected nor guaranteed. Any responses offered by or on behalf of the Association to any inquiries from Members or other persons do not constitute a legal interpretation or legal advice and merely reflect the Association's understanding or position.

1-1 LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE

- Owners shall maintain the landscaping on their Lots in a condition comparable to maintenance provided by professional landscape contractors. Owners shall routinely mow, edge, trim, fertilize, and remove and control the growth of weeds on their Lots as necessary to maintain an orderly, attractive, and well-maintained condition of the Lot year-round.
- Owners shall mow (or caused to be mowed) grassed portions of their Lots and other areas within their landscape maintenance responsibility on a regular basis sufficient, but no more than weekly, to keep the grass no more than 6 inches high. Per Section 5.1 of the Declaration, in addition to Lots, Owners are obligated to maintain (including landscape maintenance) certain areas located outside the boundaries of their Lots, including the area lying between the extensions of side Lot lines and the paving of the road and the area lying between the Owner's Lot line and the edge of an adjacent water body. The recommended height for St. Augustine turf is 3.5 to 4 inches. Mowing too short may damage your turf.
- Lawn maintenance on a Lot bordering or adjacent to a water body continues to the water's edge; Members shall not blow lawn clippings and debris into any water body.
- Owners shall neatly trim shrubs and trees and promptly remove dead branches. Owners shall trim shrubs so they do not exceed a height of six (6) feet and shall promptly remove dead shrubs and trees.
- Owners shall maintain landscape beds, lawns (all grassed and landscaped portions of Lots and other areas within their maintenance responsibility, including areas located outside the boundaries of their respective Lots), and the concrete joints of walks and drives free of weeds. Owners shall routinely irrigate lawns and landscaping but shall not exceed governmental watering restrictions.
- Planting shrubs or trees in a swale area is prohibited.
- Owners shall routinely and neatly edge walkways, driveways, and along the curb of the rights of way within their areas of maintenance responsibility.
- Owners shall trim around impediments that cannot be mowed such as edges of Units and fences.
- Owners shall treat their Lots and other areas of landscape maintenance responsibility as necessary to control and eliminate insects that have the potential to cause damage to landscaping or any improvements. Owners shall treat and maintain their Lots and other areas of landscape maintenance responsibility as necessary to eliminate and address fungus issues, winter damage to landscaping, and dead, dying, or diseased landscaping. Owners shall remove and replace dead grass with the types of sod allowed by the

Architectural Control Guidelines. Seeding of lawns is not allowed. Owners shall not apply lawn treatments within five (5) feet of the edge of any water body. A seasonal fertilization, weed, and insect control program is recommended.

- Discarding trash or debris in any water body or conservation area is prohibited.
- Owners shall promptly and diligently perform and complete cleanup and repair of damage to Lots, including landscaping, the Unit, and other improvements thereon, caused by a hurricane or other natural disaster.
- Owners shall not alter the grade or other characteristics of Lots or any other part of the Property in a manner that negatively affects the effective and proper collection, conveyance, and discharge of stormwater in accordance with applicable permits issued by the St. Johns River Water Management District.

1-2 MAINTENANCE OF HOME EXTERIOR

- Unless such responsibility is delegated to a Sub-Association, Owners shall maintain all exterior surfaces of the Home including eaves, soffits, fascias, gutters, roofs, walls, windows, doors, fixtures, and all other exterior parts of the Home in a clean, orderly, and attractive condition free from stains and mildew and painted on a regular basis.
- Owners shall promptly repair or replace broken shutters and windows.
- Owners shall paint weathered surfaces before they reach the point of unsightliness.

1-3 MAINTENANCE OF FENCING

- Owners shall maintain fencing, including any gates, in a functional, clean, orderly, and attractive condition, free of stains and mildew, and of an appearance as initially installed or constructed.
- Owners shall promptly replace broken slats or posts.

1-4 MAINTENANCE OF WALKS, DRIVES, & SIDEWALK

- Owners shall promptly remove hazardous debris such as metal or broken glass on sidewalks or driveway areas used as part of a sidewalk by pedestrians.
- Owners shall remove non-hazardous debris such as pet droppings, leaves, lawn clippings, or trash on sidewalks or driveway areas used as part of a sidewalk by pedestrians.
- Owners shall maintain walks, driveways, and sidewalks clean of stains and mildew to the extent that pressure washing allows.
- Owners shall repair damage to or large cracks in walks, driveways, and sidewalks that are located within their respective Lots.

1-5 MAINTENANCE OF RIGHTS OF WAY TO THE CURB

 Owners shall maintain portions of rights of way to the curb as required by Section 5.1 of the Declaration using the same care and diligence, and subject to the same regulations, as provided in Section 1-1 LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE.

1-6 MAINTENANCE OF LAKE BANKS TO THE WATER'S EDGE

- Per Section 5.1 of the Declaration, Owners shall maintain any portion of land lying between the Owner's Lot line and the edge of any adjacent water body in a neat, orderly, and attractive manner.
- Owners shall remove trash and debris from the edge of the water body within their

- respective areas of maintenance responsibility, regardless of lake level or drought conditions, and up the embankment.
- Owners shall repair and restore eroded lake embankments to their original, permitted condition by using material that complies with all applicable permits issued by the St. Johns River Water Management District. Rubble, construction materials or debris, wooden structures, loose stone, or concrete (poured, block, or brick), and non-vegetative material are not acceptable fill material. Owners shall submit an application to the Association's Architectural Control Committee and obtain approval before repairing or restoring eroded or otherwise damaged lake embankments. The installation of temporary silt fencing held by wooden stakes is permitted during construction on a Lot.

1-7 MAINTENANCE OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM

- Owners shall repair and replace all components of their respective irrigation systems, including irrigation head and water line failures, as necessary to cause the irrigation system to properly and routinely operate to irrigate landscaping on the Lot and other areas within each respective Owner's maintenance responsibility.
- Owners shall adjust irrigation spray heads such that sidewalks and driveway areas used as part of a sidewalk by pedestrians are not sprayed during irrigation; pedestrians using sidewalks should be able to expect a reasonably dry path despite any active irrigation.

1-8 MAINTENANCE OF MAILBOXES

- Owners shall maintain their mailboxes to avoid unsightliness due to normal weathering.
 Additional mailbox maintenance regulations are listed in the Architectural Control Guidelines and posted on the WaterMill website.
- Owners shall not allow mailboxes and mailbox posts to be covered or screened by vegetation or other visual barriers. Short vegetation may be planted at the base of the mailbox post provided it does not interfere with curbing, mail delivery, or grow more than halfway up the mailbox post between the sod and the bottom of the mailbox.

2-1 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

- Storage of gasoline or LP gas, in amounts suitable for normal home usage, is permitted when properly stored in approved containers. Such containers must be stored within an existing storage shed or garage.
 - Total storage capacity of gasoline in approved containers cannot exceed ten (10) gallons.
 - Usage of larger LP gas cylinders is subject to approval by the Architectural Control Committee. Such cylinders must be suitably screened and not contained inside a structure.
- Storage of other hazardous materials such as flammable, combustible, corrosive, or explosive fluids, chemicals, or substances is prohibited.
- Disposal of hazardous materials, including oil and other petroleum products, must be in accordance with applicable law. Dumping of such materials in storm drains, lakes, retention ponds, or conservation areas is prohibited.

2-2 PROHIBITION OF PROJECTILE WEAPONS

• Use of projectile weapons such as firearms, bows, and sling shots are prohibited on Common Property. Use of weapons on Lots and Units is governed by, and shall be exclusively in accordance with, local, state, and federal law.

2-3 PROHIBITION OF HUNTING AND TRAPPING

• Hunting and trapping wildlife are prohibited within the Property. Trapping for lawn pests such as moles is excluded from this prohibition.

2-4 PARKING OF MOTOR VEHICLES

- Parking within the Property shall be exclusively restricted to areas designated for parking. Vehicles parked on Common Property posted as No Parking or in areas that present a safety hazard to drivers or pedestrians will be subject to tow at the Owner's expense.
- Owners shall remove disabled motor vehicles from the Property within 72 hours of a disablement; however, disabled motor vehicles may be stored within garages. Repair of disabled vehicles is prohibited anywhere within the Property except within fully enclosed garages, and except for emergency repairs to enable removal of the disabled vehicle from Common Property or driveways.
- Parking facilities designated for Guests are exclusively reserved for parking of Guest vehicles. Owners, tenants, and other Unit occupants may not use such Guest parking facilities.
- No person shall park, store, or keep on any portion of the Property any large commercial type vehicle (for example, dump truck, motor home, trailer, cement mixer truck, oil or gas truck, delivery truck, etc.), nor may any person keep any other vehicle within the Property which is deemed to be a nuisance by the Board, which may include (without limitation) vehicles that are in a substantial state of disrepair, inoperable vehicles, vehicles exhibiting excessive rust or other substantial external damage, vehicles with flat tires, and vehicles placed on concrete blocks, jack stands, or other elevating devices indicating the vehicle is in a state of disrepair or inoperable. Any boat, boat trailer, or other watercraft, camper, trailer, or other recreational vehicle must be parked in a garage or be stored in the rear or side yard screened from view from the street by a six (6') foot fence as strictly approved by the ARC on a site-specific basis in the ARC's sole discretion. In addition, no boat, boat trailer, watercraft, recreational vehicle, trailer, or any similar vehicle, vessel, or trailer may be stored on a Lot in a manner visible from an adjacent water body. Notwithstanding, however, boats, watercraft, campers, and recreational vehicles may be temporarily parked in driveways during daylight hours for the purposes of loading, unloading, cleaning, and performing minor repairs in preparation for departure.
- Vehicles, vessels, and trailers parked or stored in areas not designed or designated for parking or otherwise in violation of the Association Documents are subject to tow at the Owner's expense.
- Illegal parking in the street is also subject to the jurisdiction of the City of Jacksonville Sheriff 's Office (JSO), and persons who believe a vehicle, vessel, or trailer may be parked on a street in violation of law should report such violation directly to JSO.

2-5 OBSTRUCTION OF COMMON PROPERTY OR FACILITIES

 Obstructions and personal property such as carts, bicycles, carriages, chairs, tables, and similar objects may not be stored on or in Common Property or Facilities except in areas (if any) specifically designated for that purpose by the Board of Directors.

2-6 LAKES AND RETENTION PONDS (WATER BODIES)

- Owners and Invitees are prohibited from accessing any lake or retention pond across privately owned property (i.e., Owner's Lots). Property easements are for the purpose of official maintenance by the easement beneficiaries only.
- Swimming is prohibited in any of the lakes and retention ponds within the Community.
 Fishing and trapping in the Community lakes and retention ponds is "Catch and Release" only and must comply with applicable law.
 - o Bait, fishing line, hooks, bobbers, sinkers, and other related items must be properly disposed of before the party fishing leaves the lake or retention pond area.
 - o Fish and other animals in the lakes and ponds are not edible.
- Fishing in the Community lakes and retention ponds is restricted to Owners, residents, and Guests. All boating must comply with a "No Wake" policy due to erosion caused to waterfront property. Boats with gas motors are prohibited except for lake maintenance personnel doing maintenance.
- Trolling motors rated for more than fifty (50) pounds of thrust are prohibited on any lake or retention pond.

2-7 COMMERCIAL ACTIVITY

- Commercial activity on any residential Lot or Unit that generates traffic or other nuisances to neighbors is prohibited without prior approval of the Board of Directors. In addition, no commercial activity may be conducted on any residential Lot or Unit in violation of applicable law.
- Commercial activity on Common Property is prohibited without prior approval of the Board of Directors and applicable governmental authorities.

2-8 ASSOCIATION'S AUTHORIZATION TO MAINTAIN FACILITIES

- Easements for retention pond maintenance exist as part of the Community Systems utility easements; such maintenance may require the launching and landing of small boats or access to buried water pipes that connect retention ponds under a roadway.
- No person shall obstruct or unreasonably interfere with the Association's easements for maintenance, repair, or replacement of any of the Property, including the Community Systems. Owners shall remove any such obstructions or eliminate any such interferences upon demand by the Association.
- Owners should expect that companies doing work for the Association will make reasonable attempts to avoid disrupting or damaging existing landscaping while doing maintenance.

2-9 STORAGE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY

 Owners and Invitees shall store personal property, including bicycles, skateboards, toys, portable basketball hoops, recreational equipment, trash containers, recycling bins, and tools, when not actively being used within the garage, Unit, or behind a solid fence of the Lot or Unit. Owners and Invitees shall maintain an uncluttered Lot and shall not allow personal property to be stored or placed on a Lot in a cluttered or unsightly manner.

• Use of large exterior storage units, such as PODS, cannot exceed 4 weeks. Grills may be stored at the rear of Lots or Units, preferably on a porch or lanai.

2-10 REMOTE CONTROLLED VEHICLES AND AIRCRAFT

• Operating remote controlled vehicles and aircraft is prohibited on or over Common Property and any Lot or Unit not belonging to the Owner of the vehicle or aircraft.

2-11 MODEL ROCKETS

 Operation (firing) of model rockets is prohibited anywhere within (including over) the Property.

2-12 GENERAL RULES FOR PETS

- All dogs, cats, and other permitted animals, if any, must be leashed and under the full control of the handler when outside the boundaries of the Owner's or tenant's Lot.
- Pet owners shall immediately remove and properly dispose of (in a sanitary manner) all excrement created by their pets anywhere within the Property. Without limiting the foregoing, pet owners must also remove pet excrement from their lawns so as not to cause a nuisance (including noxious odors) to neighboring property owners.
- Unattended dogs are not permitted to remain outside on Lots or Units if barking becomes a nuisance to neighboring Owners.
- Structures designed or used for sheltering animals, including dog houses, are prohibited on Common Property and any portion of a Lot outside the Unit.
- ALL PERSONS BRINGING ANY ANIMAL INTO THE PROPERTY SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD HARMLESS THE ASSOCIATION, ITS DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, MANAGERS, PRINCIPALS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES, FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL INJURIES, DAMAGES, LOSSES, EXPENSES, JUDGMENTS, ATTORNEY FEES, COSTS, AND OTHER CLAIMS OF ANY NATURE ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE PERSON'S ANIMAL.

2-13 PROPER STORAGE OF TRASH

- Trash stored outside must be kept in closed metal or hard plastic containers behind solid fencing so that it is not visible to the public (e.g., from any street), except during permitted times when trash receptacles may be placed near the curb for collection.
- Trash must be stored to prevent odors from being perceptible from outside the boundaries of the Owner's Lot.
- Trash placed near the curb for collection must be kept secured in a suitable container such that the trash remains intact and in place until collection occurs.
- Trash and trash receptacles must be placed near the curb for collection no earlier than 7:00 PM the evening prior to collection and must be removed and properly stored in accordance with the Association Documents no later than 9:00 PM the day of collection.
- Use of dumpsters or other large exterior trash containers is prohibited except for short term use during active home renovations or construction.

3-1 ENFORCEMENT OF ASSOCIATION DOCUMENTS

- Enforcement generally; reservation of rights. The Association reserves the right, but shall have no obligation in any instance, to enforce compliance with the Association Documents through any lawful means available at law or in equity. The Board of Directors may choose whether to pursue, and the nature of, any enforcement action to be undertaken by the Association, if any, in any instance in its reasonable business judgment. No person shall have the right to compel the Association to pursue enforcement of any of the Association Documents in any instance. The Association's decision to choose one method of enforcement shall not preclude the Association from thereafter choosing any other method of enforcement with respect to the same or another violation and shall not constitute an election of remedies. All remedies referenced herein are cumulative and not exclusive of other remedies provided at law or in equity.
- Right of Entry to Perform Maintenance. Per Section 5.2 of the Declaration, in addition to all other rights and remedies, in the event that an Owner fails to maintain his or her Unit or Lot in accordance with the Association Documents, the Association shall have the right to enter the Lot or Unit and perform such maintenance duties at the Owner's expense. The Association's entry shall be during reasonable hours and after five (5) days' prior written notice to the affected Owner. If the Association exercises its right to perform maintenance, the affected Owner(s) shall be liable to the Association for the costs of performing such maintenance or other remedial work plus a surcharge of not more than thirty-five percent (35%) of the cost of the applicable maintenance or other remedial work, which shall be considered an administrative cost, which shall be payable upon demand, shall constitute an assessment against the Owner and his or her Lot per Section 7.4 of the Declaration, and shall secured by the Association's lien as provided in Article 7 of the Declaration.
- Fines and Suspensions. As one optional and non-exclusive method of enforcing the Association Documents, the Association may impose fines against Owners and Invitees, and may suspend the rights of Owners and Invitees to use Common Property and recreational facilities, for violations of the Association Documents. A suspension may not prohibit an Owner or tenant of a Lot or Unit from having vehicular and pedestrian ingress to and egress from the Lot or Unit, including, but not limited to, the right to park.
- Procedure for Imposition of Fines and Suspensions. The following procedures apply to the Association's imposition of fines and suspensions for violations of the Association Documents:
 - 1. Upon discovery of a first violation, the Owner or Invitee, or both, (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Violating Party") will be sent a courtesy notice in writing describing the nature of the violation and providing at least seven (7) days to cure the violation. The Association may, but is not obligated to, provide additional or other courtesy notices and opportunities to cure violations in its discretion.
 - 2. If a violation is not corrected within seven (7) days of a courtesy notice following a first violation, the Board of Directors may impose a fine against a Violating Party of up to \$100.00 per day, which shall accumulate daily until the violation is

corrected or until reaching \$1,000.00 in the aggregate. In addition, the Board may suspend a Violating Party's rights to use Common Property and recreational facilities, which shall commence upon confirmation (if confirmed) by the Violations Committee and will end upon correction of all violations or up to sixty (60) days (as determined by the Board) after the Violations Committee's confirmation of the suspension (if confirmed), whichever occurs first.

- 3. For second, third, and subsequent violations, the Association may, but shall not be obligated to, send a courtesy notice of the violation(s) to the Violating Party. For second violations, the Board may impose a fine of up to \$500.00 per day, per violation, which shall accumulate daily until the violation is corrected or until reaching \$1,000.00 in the aggregate (per violation). For third and subsequent violations, the Board may impose a fine of up to \$1,000.00 per violation. In addition, for second, third, and subsequent violations, the Board may suspend a Violating Party's rights to use Common Property and recreational facilities, which shall commence upon confirmation (if confirmed) by the Violations Committee and will end upon correction of all violations or up to sixty (60) days (as determined by the Board) after the Violations Committee's confirmation of the suspension (if confirmed), whichever occurs first.
- 4. After the Board imposes a fine or suspension (or both), the Violating Party will be sent written notice providing an opportunity for the Violating Party to attend a hearing before the Violations Committee ("Hearing Notice"). The Hearing Notice shall:
 - a. Describe the nature of the violation(s);
 - b. State that a fine or suspension, or both, has been imposed and provide the date, time, and location of the hearing before the Violations Committee ("Hearing"). The amount of the fine and duration of the suspension proposed to be considered should, but is not required to be, identified in the Hearing Notice; and
 - c. Be mailed to the Violating Party at least <u>fourteen (14) days</u> prior to the scheduled Hearing.

The Hearing Notice may be sent by an Association Officer, Director, Community Association Manager, legal counsel, or other designated agent or representative, and shall be sent via U.S. Mail or hand delivery to the address furnished by the Violating Party to the Association for the purposes of receiving notices from the Association. If a Violating Party has not designated an address in writing to the Association for the purpose of receiving Association notices, all notices required to be provided by the Association shall be deemed to be properly provided once placed in the mail and addressed to any location where the Violating Party may reasonably receive the notice given the information reasonably available to the party sending the notice, or to the address of the Owner's Lot within the Community. A Violating Party shall have no right to object to the adequacy of notice if that party fails to furnish an address to the Association for the purpose of

receiving notices from the Association. Fines shall be deemed imposed and shall begin to accrue daily (when applicable) from the date of the Board meeting at which the fine was imposed and each day thereafter until correction of the violation or reaching the maximum aggregate fine amount, per violation.

- 5. At the Hearing, the Violating Party may provide testimony and evidence regarding whether the fine or suspension should be confirmed. The Violating Party shall have the right to cross-examine witnesses and to be represented by counsel, provided the Violating Party complies with Section 6 below. The Violations Committee may ask questions of the Violating Party as part of the Hearing process and may consider any reliable evidence presented by or on behalf of the Association and a Violating Party. Fines and suspensions may be imposed and confirmed regardless of whether the violation was corrected before the Hearing; however, the Violations Committee may take correction of a violation before the Hearing into consideration incident to deciding whether to confirm or reject a fine or suspension levied by the Board.
- 6. A Violating Party who desires to be represented by legal counsel at the Hearing or who desires to have a stenographer transcribe the proceedings (at the Violating Party's sole expense) must provide at least seventy-two (72) hours' written notice to the Association in advance of the Hearing. The purpose of this provision is to afford the Association the opportunity to have legal counsel present on behalf of the Association.
- 7. Association representatives, Association management, and any other individual with information regarding the violation giving rise to the fine or suspension may appear at the Hearing and may testify as witnesses. The Violations Committee shall have the right to question any witnesses presented by any party. The Violations Committee shall not conduct any independent investigation of any alleged violations and shall instead rely upon evidence presented to it for or during the Hearing in reaching its decision.
- 8. At the conclusion of the Hearing, the Violations Committee shall, by majority vote, decide whether to confirm or reject the fine or suspension (or both) levied by the Board. The Violations Committee's decision may not be appealed to the Board of Directors, and a fine or suspension cannot be imposed if the Violations Committee decides to reject the fine or suspension. The Chairperson of the Violations Committee shall complete the Chairperson's Written Report of Violations Committee's Decision, the form of which shall be established by the Board periodically, which shall indicate the Violations Committee's decision of whether it confirmed or rejected the fine or suspension (or both) levied by the Board.
- 9. The Association shall provide written notice to the Violating Party of the Violations Committee's decision after it has received the Chairperson's Written Report of Violations Committee's Decision and within twenty-one (21) days

following the Hearing. The Violations Committee's written decision is only required to state the committee's decision to confirm or reject each fine or suspension and is not required to include any factual findings or detailed analysis. If a fine was confirmed by the Violations Committee, the Violating Party must pay it within thirty (30) days after the date of the Association's written notice of the Violations Committee's decision.

- 10. An Owner is jointly and severally liable with a violating tenant, guest, or other Invitee for any fines imposed because of a violation of the Association Documents by any tenant, guest, or Invitee. In addition, all suspensions imposed and confirmed by the Violations Committee shall apply to the Owner, and when applicable, the Owner's tenants, guests, and Invitees, regardless of whether the Owner or one or more of his or her tenants, guests, or Invitees committed the violation. The Association may pursue any remedy at law or in equity to enforce a suspension or collect any fine imposed. Fines of \$1,000.00 or more in the aggregate shall constitute an assessment and lien against the Lot of the Owner who, or whose tenant, guest, or Invitee, committed the violation and may be collected through foreclosure proceedings. Such assessments shall be subject to the accrual of late fees, interest, and attorney fees and costs incident to collection, which shall be the Owner's obligation to pay, and all of which shall be secured by the Association's lien.
- 11. The provisions above providing for notice and an opportunity for a Hearing before a suspension is imposed do not apply to suspensions of the right to use Common Property and recreational facilities or suspensions of voting rights imposed because an Owner is more than ninety (90) days delinquent in paying any fee, fine, or other monetary obligation due to the Association. Such suspensions must be approved at a properly noticed Board meeting and end upon full payment of all monetary obligations due or overdue to the Association. Upon Board approval of such a suspension, the Association must notify the Owner, and as applicable, the Lot's occupants, licensee, tenants, guests, or Invitees, of the suspension in writing by mail or hand delivery.

APPROVED on this day of	, 2024.	
	Watermill Master Association, Inc.	
	Ву:	
	Printed:	
	As its:	